# Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust ARSN 092 755 318

Annual financial statements for the reporting period ended 30 June 2015

# **Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust**

ARSN 092 755 318

# Annual financial statements for the reporting period ended 30 June 2015

Contents	Page
Directors' report	2
Auditor's independence declaration	6
Statement of comprehensive income	7
Statement of financial position	8
Statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders	9
Statement of cash flows	10
Notes to the financial statements	11
Directors' declaration	43
Independent auditor's report to the unitholders of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust	44

These financial statements cover Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust as an individual entity.

The Responsible Entity of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust is Australian Unity Funds Management Limited (ABN 60 071 497 115). The Responsible Entity's registered office is Level 14, 114 Albert Road, South Melbourne, VIC 3205.

#### **Directors' report**

The directors of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited (ABN 60 071 497 115), the Responsible Entity of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust ("the Scheme"), present their report together with the financial statements of the Scheme for the year ended 30 June 2015 ("the reporting period").

#### **Directors**

The following persons held office as directors of the Responsible Entity during the reporting period or since the end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report:

Glenn Barnes (Chairman)

David Bryant (Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer)

Melinda Cilento (Non-Executive Director)

Stephen Maitland (Non-Executive Director)

Kevin McCoy (Chief Financial Officer)

Rohan Mead (Group Managing Director)

Peter Promnitz (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 1 August 2014)

Greg Willcock (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 31 December 2014)

Ian Ferres (Non-Executive Director) (ceased 1 August 2014)

Warren Stretton (Non-Executive Director) (ceased 31 December 2014)

#### **Principal activities**

The Scheme aims to provide unitholders with regular income and the opportunity for long term capital growth.

The Scheme primarily invests in a diversified portfolio of healthcare property and related assets. The Scheme may invest in Australian healthcare related direct property, managed funds or companies that predominantly hold healthcare property and related assets. The Scheme may also invest in international healthcare related direct property and managed funds that predominantly hold healthcare property and related assets, in countries with healthcare systems and property markets with attributes similar to Australia.

#### Review and results of operations

#### Property valuations

The current reporting period revaluations were in total below the revalued properties carrying values resulting in recording a net revaluation fair value decrement of \$4,481,287 (2014: \$265,677).

#### Property acquisitions

On 21 July 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of Brisbane Waters Private Hospital, NSW for a purchase price of \$16,175,000 and acquisition costs of \$1,229,027.

On 20 October 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of 136 Wills Street, Townsville, QLD for a purchase price of \$5,000,000 and acquisition costs of \$464,420.

On 14 November 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of 17-19 Fullarton Road, Kent Town, SA for a purchase price of \$11,100,000 and acquisition costs of \$874,314.

On 12 December 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of 101 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC for a purchase price of \$800,000 and acquisition costs of \$53,173.

On 15 January 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of two properties located at 103 and 105 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC for \$490,000 each and acquisition costs of \$34,092 and \$33,784, respectively.

On 25 March 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of 95 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC for a purchase price of \$1,200,000 and acquisition costs of \$85,596.

On 2 April 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of Gosford Private Medical Centre located at 12 Jarrett Street, North Gosford, NSW at a purchase price of \$13,067,500 and acquisition cost of \$1,028,002.

On 17 June 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of 1 Bayberry Lane, Robina, QLD for a purchase price of \$7,900,000 and acquisition costs of \$705,814.

#### Derivatives

In the current reporting period, the Scheme recognised a net unrealised gain on derivative instruments held at fair value through profit or loss of \$3,629,175 and a realised loss on derivative instruments held at fair value through profit or loss of \$4,167,571.

#### Results

For the reporting period, the Scheme's:

- Retail units posted a total return of 7.39%, (split between a distribution return of 6.70% and a growth return
  of 0.69%)\*.
- Wholesale units posted a total return of 7.91%, (split between a distribution return of 7.29% and a growth return of 0.62%)\*.
- Class A units posted a total return of eturn of 6.72%, (split between a distribution return of 6.43% and a growth return of 0.29%)\*.

Unit prices (ex distribution) as at 30 June 2015 (2014) are as follows:

Retail units \$1.3911 (\$1.3603)\* Wholesale units \$1.3643 (\$1.3337)\* Class A units \$0.9486 (\$0.9322)\*

\*The reported performance numbers and reported unit prices (which are not audited) have been derived based on the declared unit prices calculated in accordance with the Responsible Entity's unit pricing policy, and are not based on the net assets of these IFRS compliant financial statements. Return calculations assume the reinvestment of distributions.

The performance of the Scheme, as represented by the results of its operations, was as follows:

	For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000
Profit before finance costs attributable to unitholders	34,648	30,433
Distributions - Retail units		
Distribution paid and payable	9,028	11,460
Distributions - Wholesale units		
Distribution paid and payable	20,947	12,397
Distributions - Class A units		
Distribution paid and payable	8,456	4,998

#### Significant changes in state of affairs

In the opinion of the directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Scheme that occurred during the reporting period, except those mentioned elsewhere in the report.

## Events occurring after the reporting period

Except as disclosed in note 22 of the financial statements, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:

- (i) the operations of the Scheme in future reporting periods, or
- (ii) the results of those operations in future reporting periods, or
- (iii) the state of affairs of the Scheme in future reporting periods.

#### Likely developments and expected results of operations

The Scheme will continue to be managed in accordance with the investment objectives and guidelines as set out in the governing documents of the Scheme and in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme's Constitution.

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Scheme and the expected results of those operations have not been included in this report because the Responsible Entity believes it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Scheme.

#### Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors

No insurance premiums are paid for out of the assets of the Scheme in regards to insurance cover provided to either the officers of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited or the auditors of the Scheme. So long as the officers of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited act in accordance with the Scheme's Constitution and the *Corporations Act 2001*, the officers remain indemnified out of the assets of the Scheme against losses incurred while acting on behalf of the Scheme. The auditors of the Scheme are in no way indemnified out of the assets of the Scheme.

#### Fees paid to and interests held in the Scheme by the Responsible Entity or its associates

Fees paid to the Responsible Entity and its associates out of Scheme property during the reporting period are disclosed in note 20 of the financial statements.

No fees were paid out of Scheme property to the directors of the Responsible Entity during the reporting period.

The number of interests in the Scheme held by the Responsible Entity or its associates as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 20 of the financial statements.

#### Units in the Scheme

The movement in units on issue in the Scheme during the reporting period is disclosed in note 9 of the financial statements.

The value of the Scheme's assets and liabilities is disclosed in the statement of financial position and derived using the basis set out in note 2 of the financial statements.

#### **Environmental regulation**

The property operations within the Scheme are subject to environmental regulations under Australian law. There have been no known reportable breaches of these regulations.

#### Rounding of amounts to the nearest thousand dollars

The Scheme is an entity of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission relating to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the directors' report and financial report. Amounts in the directors' report and financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order, where indicated.

## Auditor's independence declaration

A copy of the Auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the *Corporations Act 2001* is set out on page 6.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited.

Director

Director

10 September 2015



Ernst & Young 8 Exhibition Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001

Tel: +61 3 9288 8000 Fax: +61 3 8650 7777 ev.com

## Auditor's Independence Declaration to the Directors of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited, as responsible entity for Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001* or any applicable code of professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

Luke Slater Partner Melbourne

10 September 2015

## Statement of comprehensive income

		For the reporting period ended	
		30 June	30 June
	Notes	2015 \$'000	2014
Income	Notes	\$ 000	\$'000
Rental income	3	54,819	48,797
Property expenses	4	(7,255)	(6,496)
	4 _		
Net property income		47,564	42,301
Interest income		51	35
Distribution income	5	4,942	2,026
Net gain on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or		·	·
loss	6	502	1,074
Realised loss on disposal of investment property	14(b)	-	(249)
Net fair value (decrement)/increment of investment properties	14(b)	(4,481)	266
Total income net of property expenses	-	48,578	45,453
Expenses			
Responsible Entity's fees	20	7,171	5,852
Borrowing costs		5,980	8,928
Other expenses	8	779	240
Total expenses	_	13,930	15,020
Profit hefers finance costs offsituately to unithelder		24.040	20.422
Profit before finance costs attributable to unitholders	_	34,648	30,433
Finance costs attributable to unitholders			
Distributions to unitholders	10	(38,431)	(28,855)
Decrease/(increase) in net assets attributable to unitholders	9 _	3,783	(1,578)
Total comprehensive income for the reporting period attributable to unitholders	_		

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

## Statement of financial position

		As at	
	Notes	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000
Assets	Notes	\$ 000	\$ 000
Cash and cash equivalents	11	86,444	58,146
Receivables	12	2,736	3,195
Other assets		572	585
Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss	13	56,294	6,767
Investment properties	14	553,699	480,304
Total assets	_	699,745	548,997
Liabilities			
Distributions payable	10	10,362	7,934
Payables	15	4,717	3,407
Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss	13	-	3,629
Borrowings	16 _	33,670	115,192
Total liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to unitholders)	_	48,749	130,162
Net assets attributable to unitholders	9 _	650,996	418,835

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

## Statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders

	For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000
Net assets attributable to unitholders at the beginning of the reporting period	418,835	322,368
Profit before finance costs attributable to unitholders	34,648	30,433
Distributions to unitholders	(38,431)	(28,855)
Applications for units	269,668	130,751
Redemptions of units	(41,032)	(40,724)
Units issued upon re-investment of distributions	7,308	4,862
Net assets attributable to unitholders at the end of the reporting period	650,996	418,835

The above statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

## Statement of cash flows

		For the reporting period ended	
		30 June 2015	30 June 2014
	Notes	\$'000	\$'000
Cash flows from operating activities			0.5
Interest received		51	35
Distributions received Rental income received		2,855	2,035 47,117
Payments to suppliers		54,314 (15,419)	(13,586)
	-04( )		
Net cash inflow from operating activities	21(a) _	41,801	35,601
Cash flows from investing activities			
Purchase of financial instruments held at fair value through profit or			(2.222)
loss		(47,358)	(2,860)
Purchase of investment property		(56,223)	(38,500)
Acquisition costs on purchase		(3,976)	(2,727)
Capital expenditure on owned investment properties		(14,187)	(4,629)
Proceeds from sale of financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss		-	8,050
Proceeds from sale of investment property		-	5,900
Disposal costs paid		-	(136)
Net cash outflow from investing activities	-	(121,744)	(34,902)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from applications by unitholders		269,668	130,751
Payments for redemptions by unitholders		(41,032)	(39,455)
Distributions paid		(28,694)	(22,246)
Borrowing costs paid		(5,477)	(10,794)
Swap termination costs paid		(4,168)	-
Repayment of borrowings	_	(82,056)	(27,953)
Net cash inflow from financing activities	-	108,241	30,303
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		28,298	31,002
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period	_	58,146	27,144
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period	11 _	86,444	58,146

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

## **Contents**

		Page
1	General information	12
2	Summary of significant accounting policies	12
3	Rental income	21
4	Property expenses	21
5	Distribution income	21
6	Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss	22
7	Auditor's remuneration	22
8	Other operating expenses	23
9	Net assets attributable to unitholders	23
10	Distributions to unitholders	25
11	Cash and cash equivalents	26
12	Receivables	26
13	Financial assets/(liabilities) held at fair value through profit or loss	26
14	Investment properties	27
15	Payables	29
16	Borrowings	29
17	Derivative assets and liabilities	30
18	Financial risk management	31
19	Fair value hierarchy	36
20	Related party transactions	39
21	Reconciliation of profit to net cash inflows from operating activities	42
22	Events occurring after the reporting period	42
23	Contingent assets and liabilities and commitments	42

## 1 General information

These financial statements cover Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust ("the Scheme") as an individual entity. The Scheme was constituted on 17 June 1998 and will terminate on the 80th anniversary or earlier in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme's Constitution.

The Responsible Entity of the Scheme is Australian Unity Funds Management Limited (ABN 60 071 497 115) ("the Responsible Entity"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Australian Unity Limited (ABN 23 087 648 888). The Responsible Entity's registered office is Level 14, 114 Albert Road, South Melbourne, VIC 3205.

The Responsible Entity is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

The financial statements are for the period from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 ("the reporting period").

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors of the Responsible Entity on 10 September 2015. The directors of the Responsible Entity have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

## 2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all reporting periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

#### (a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the *Corporations Act 2001* in Australia.

The Scheme is a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared on the basis of fair value measurement of assets and liabilities except where otherwise stated.

The statement of financial position is presented on a liquidity basis. Assets and liabilities are presented in decreasing order of liquidity and are not distinguished between current and non-current. All balances are generally expected to be recovered or settled within twelve months, except for investment properties, financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss and net assets attributable to unitholders, where the amount expected to be recovered or settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period cannot be reliably determined.

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards

The financial statements of the Scheme comply with Australian Accounting Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial statements are presented in the local reporting currency being Australian dollars.

## (a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Amended standards adopted by the Fund

The Scheme has applied the following major accounting standard amendment (to the extent relevant to the Scheme) for the first time for the reporting period:

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

AASB 2012-3 amended the application guidance in AASB 132 *Financial Instruments: Presentation*, to clarify some of the requirements for offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position. The amendments do not change the current offsetting rules in AASB 132, but they clarify that the right of set off must be available today (ie not contingent on a future event) and must be legally enforceable in the normal course of business as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The Scheme currently complies with the amendment. The adoption of the amendment did not have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Scheme.

#### (b) Investment properties

Initially, investment properties are measured at the cost of acquisition being the purchase consideration determined at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition. Costs incidental to acquisition may include legal fees, stamp duty and other government charges, professional fees preceding acquisition and where applicable financing charges incurred during the construction or development of an asset.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in the statement of comprehensive income in the reporting period in which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when they have either been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use. Any gains or losses on the derecognition of an investment property are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the reporting period of derecognition.

Independent valuations of investment properties are obtained at intervals of generally one year from suitably qualified valuers. Less frequent valuations are permissible, however the intervals between such valuations are not to exceed three years. Such valuations are reflected in the financial statements of the Scheme. Notwithstanding, the directors of the Responsible Entity determine the carrying value of each investment property at each reporting date to ensure that its carrying value does not materially differ from its fair value. Where the carrying value differs from fair value, that asset is adjusted to its fair value.

Where assets have been revalued, the potential effect of the capital gains tax on disposal has not been taken into account in the determination of the revalued carrying amount because the Scheme does not expect to be ultimately liable for capital gains tax in respect of the assets.

Expenditure capitalised to properties includes the cost of acquisition, capital and refurbishment additions, lease commissions and incentives, related professional fees incurred and other directly attributable transaction costs.

## (c) Financial instruments

- (i) Classification
- Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss

The Scheme's investments are categorised as held at fair value through profit or loss. They comprise:

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss upon initial recognition

These include financial assets and financial liabilities that are not held for trading purposes and which may be sold. These may include investments in listed property trusts, unlisted property trusts and other unlisted trusts.

## (c) Financial instruments (continued)

#### (i) Classification (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Scheme's documented investment strategy. The Scheme's policy is for the Responsible Entity to evaluate the information about these financial instruments on a fair value basis together with other related financial information.

The information on the fair value basis is provided internally to the Scheme's key management personnel. In addition, the designation of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss will reduce any measurement or recognition inconsistencies and any accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

## • Loans and receivables/payables

Loans and receivables/payables are non-derivative financial assets/liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. This category includes short term receivables/payables.

#### (ii) Recognition/derecognition

The Scheme recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes party to the contractual agreement (trade date) and recognises changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities from this date.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
- the Scheme retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
  them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass through' agreement; or
- the Scheme has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:
  - (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
  - (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Any gains or losses arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the reporting period the asset is derecognised as realised gains or losses on financial instruments.

#### (iii) Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss are measured initially at fair value excluding any transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs on financial assets and financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately. Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments held at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with changes in their fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

## (c) Financial instruments (continued)

- (iii) Measurement (continued)
- Fair value in an active market

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities traded in active markets is based on their quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. Financial assets are priced at current bid prices, while financial liabilities are priced at current asking prices.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis.

Investments in other unlisted unit trusts are recorded at the redemption value per unit as reported by the managers of such trusts.

#### Borrowings and receivables/payables

Borrowings and receivables/payables are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently, borrowings are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term receivables/payables are carried at their initial fair values.

#### (iv) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when, and only when, there is currently a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

## (d) Derivatives

In order to minimise exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, the Scheme may use a combination of interest rate swaps and options to ensure that the rate of interest on debt is predominantly fixed. Derivative financial instruments are not held for speculative purposes and are carried on the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Interest payments and receipts under interest rate swap contracts are recognised on an accrual basis in the statement of comprehensive income, as an adjustment to interest expense when the hedge transaction occurs.

#### (e) Net assets attributable to unitholders

Units are redeemable at the unitholders' option via redemption facility and are therefore classified as financial liabilities. The units can be put back to the Scheme for cash equal to a proportionate share of the Scheme's net asset value. The fair value of redeemable units is measured at the redemption amount that is payable (based on the redemption unit price) at the end of the reporting period if unitholders exercised their right to put the units back to the Scheme. Because the Scheme's redemption unit price is based on different valuation principles to that applied in financial reporting, a valuation difference exists, which has been treated as a separate component of net assets attributable to unitholders. Changes in the value of this financial liability are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as they arise.

#### (f) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts, if any, are shown within borrowings in the statement of financial position.

## (g) Investment income

Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for all financial instruments that are not held at fair value through profit or loss using the effective interest method. Other changes in fair value for such instruments are recorded in accordance with the policies described in note 2(c).

Trust distributions (including distributions from cash management trusts) are recognised on an entitlements basis.

Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss arising on a change in fair value are calculated as the difference between the fair value at the end of the reporting period and the fair value at the previous valuation point. Net gains/(losses) do not include interest or dividend/distribution income. Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) are shown in the notes to the financial statements.

#### (h) Expenses

All expenses, including Responsible Entity's fees and custodian fees, are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on an accruals basis.

#### (i) Income tax

Under current legislation, the Scheme is not subject to income tax as unitholders are presently entitled to the income of the Scheme.

Property and financial instruments held at fair value may include unrealised capital gains. Should such a gain be realised, that portion of the gain that is subject to capital gains tax will be distributed so that the Scheme is not subject to capital gains tax.

Realised capital losses are not distributed to unitholders but are retained in the Scheme to be offset against any future realised capital gains. If realised capital gains exceed realised capital losses, the excess is distributed to unitholders.

The benefit of imputation credits and foreign tax paid, if any, are passed on to unitholders.

#### (i) Distributions

In accordance with the Scheme's Constitution, the Scheme distributes income adjusted for amounts determined by the Responsible Entity, to unitholders by cash or reinvestment. The distributions are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as finance costs attributable to unitholders.

#### (k) Increase/decrease in net assets attributable to unitholders

Income not distributed is included in net assets attributable to unitholders. Movements in net assets attributable to unitholders are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as finance costs.

#### (I) Receivables

Receivables may include amounts for interest, rental income arrears, trust distributions, and securities sold where settlement has not yet occurred. Dividends and trust distributions are accrued when the right to receive payment is established. Interest is accrued at the end of each reporting period from the time of last payment in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(g) above. Amounts are generally received within 30 days of being recorded as receivables.

Receivables include such items as Reduced Input Tax Credits (RITC) and application monies receivable from unitholders.

## (I) Receivables (continued)

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision for impairment of trade receivables) is used when there is objective evidence that the Scheme will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within property expenses. When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against property expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.

#### (m) Payables

Payables include liabilities and accrued expenses owing by the Scheme which are unpaid as at the end of the reporting period.

Trades are recorded on trade date, and normally settled within three business days. Purchases of financial instruments that are unsettled at the end of each reporting period are included in payables.

The distribution amount payable to unitholders as at the end of each reporting period is recognised separately in the statement of financial position when unitholders are presently entitled to the distributable income under the Scheme's Constitution.

Liabilities for trade creditors are carried at original invoice amount which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Scheme.

Payables to related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. They are carried at the nominal amount due to the short term nature of the payable. Interest is taken up as an expense on an accrual basis.

Provisions are recognised when the Scheme has a present obligation as a result of the past event and it is probable that the Scheme will be requested to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

## (n) Applications and redemptions

Applications received for units in the Scheme are recorded net of any entry fees payable prior to the issue of units in the Scheme. Redemptions from the Scheme are recorded gross of any exit fees payable after the cancellation of units redeemed.

Unit redemption prices are determined in accordance with the Scheme's Constitution by reference to the net assets of the Scheme divided by the number of units on issue.

## (o) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

The statement of comprehensive income is shown exclusive of GST, unless the GST incurred (or part thereof) on expenses that are not recoverable. Expenses of various services provided to the Scheme by third parties, such as custodial services and investment management fees, may have non-recoverable GST components, as applicable. In these cases, the non-recoverable GST component is recognised as part of the particular expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

Accounts payable and receivable are stated inclusive of the GST receivable and payable, respectively. The net amount of GST recoverable, or payable, is included in receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows relating to GST are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.

#### (p) Borrowings and borrowing costs

All loans are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with borrowings.

After initial recognition, loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or premium on settlement. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when liabilities are derecognised or impaired.

There were no gains or losses in relation to loans taken to profit for the current reporting period.

#### (q) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue brought to account but not received at the end of the reporting period is recognised as a receivable. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

#### Rental revenue

Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals, such as turnover rent and market rent adjustments, are recognised as income in the financial reporting period in which they are earned.

Fixed rental increases which do not represent direct compensation for underlying cost increases or capital expenditure are recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

The rental adjustments resulting from this policy are disclosed in the financial statements for financial reporting presentation purposes only.

Incidental income (costs) derived from an investment property undergoing construction or development but not directly related to bringing the assets to the working condition, are recognised in profit for the reporting period.

Rent not received at the end of the reporting period is reflected in the statement of financial position as a receivable or if received in advance, as a liability.

#### Interest revenue

Interest income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it accrues.

#### (r) Leases

#### Leasing costs

Lease costs are costs that are directly associated with negotiating and arranging an operating lease (including commissions, legal fees and costs of preparing and processing documentation for new leases). These costs are capitalised and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease as a reduction of rental income or an increase in property outgoings. The carrying amount of the leasing cost is reflected in the fair value of investment properties.

#### Lease incentives

Incentives such as cash, rent-free periods, lessee or lessor owned fitouts may be provided to lessees to enter into an operating lease. These incentives are capitalised and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease as a reduction of rental income or an increase in property outgoings. The carrying amount of the lease incentives is reflected in the fair value of investment properties.

#### (s) Use of judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Scheme's financial statements requires it to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. However, estimates are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical judgements are made by the Scheme in respect of the fair values of investment properties. These investments are reviewed regularly by reference to external independent property valuations and market conditions, using generally accepted market practices.

The key weighted average assumptions used by the external independent property valuers in the latest valuations have been used by the Scheme for the investment properties and the weighted average total for all properties, including the weighted average lease expiry (WALE), have been disclosed in note 19.

The Scheme's financial instruments are valued primarily based on the prices provided by independent pricing services.

When the fair values of the reported financial instruments cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using prices obtained from inactive or unquoted markets and/or other valuation techniques. The inputs to these valuation techniques (if applicable) are taken from observable markets to the extent practicable. Where observable inputs are not available, the inputs may be estimated based on a degree of judgements and assumptions in establishing fair values.

Where appropriate, the outcomes of the valuation techniques that are used in establishing fair values are validated using prices from observable current market transactions for similar instruments (without modification or repackaging) or based on relevant available observable market data.

The determination of what constitutes 'observable' requires significant judgement by the Scheme. The Scheme considers observable data to be market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

In addition, areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates and judgements. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

For certain other financial instruments, including amounts due from/to brokers, accounts payable and the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the immediate or short term nature of these financial instruments.

## (t) New accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2015 reporting period and have not been early adopted by the Scheme. The directors' assessment of the impact of these new standards (to the extent relevant to the Scheme) and interpretations is set out below:

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments (and applicable amendments) (effective from 1 January 2018)

AASB 9 *Financial Instruments* addresses the classification, measurement, recognition and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities. It has now also introduced revised rules for hedge accounting and impairment. The Standard is not applicable until 1 January 2018 but is available for early adoption. The Scheme does not expect this to have a significant impact on the recognition and measurement of the Scheme's financial instruments as they are carried at fair value through profit or loss. The derecognition rules have not been changed from the previous requirements, and the Scheme does not apply hedge accounting. AASB 9 introduces a new impairment model. However, as the Scheme's investments are all held at fair value through profit or loss, the change in impairment rules will not impact the Scheme. The Scheme does not intend to early adopt AASB 9. The Scheme will apply AASB 9 in its financial statements for the reporting period commencing from 1 July 2018.

(ii) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective from 1 January 2018)

In December 2014, the AASB issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. Once applied or effective, AASB 15 will replace AASB 118 Revenue which covers contracts for goods and services and AASB 111 *Construction Contracts* which covers construction contracts. AASB 15 is based on the notion that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer. This notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. The Scheme's main source of income includes interest, dividends/distributions and gains on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss. All of these are outside the scope of the Revenue standard. Consequently, the Scheme does not expect AASB 15 to have a significant impact on the Scheme's financial statements. The Scheme does not intend to early adopt AASB 15. The Scheme will apply AASB 15 in its financial statements for the reporting period commencing from 1 July 2018.

(iii) AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle (effective 1 January 2016)

In January 2015, the AASB approved a number of amendments to Australian Accounting Standards as a result of the 2012-2014 annual improvements project. No significant impact is expected upon adoption of the amendments. The Scheme does not intend to early adopt AASB 2015-1. The Scheme will apply AASB 2015-1 in its financial statements for the reporting period commencing from 1 July 2016.

(iv) AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 (effective 1 January 2016)

AASB 2015-2 amends AASB 101 *Presentation of Financial Statements* to clarify that entities should not disclose immaterial information and that the presentation in notes to the financial statements can and should be tailored to provide the report users with the clearest story of an entity's financial performance and financial position. No significant impact is expected upon adoption of the amendments. The Scheme does not intend to early adopt AASB 2015-2. The Scheme will apply AASB 2015-2 in its financial statements for the reporting period commencing from 1 July 2016.

(v) AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality (effective 1 July 2015)

AASB 2015-3 completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 *Materiality* in all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing AASB 1031 to effectively be withdrawn. No significant impact is expected upon adoption of the amendments. The Scheme does not intend to early adopt AASB 2015-3. The Scheme will apply AASB 2015-3 in its financial statements for the reporting period commencing from 1 July 2015

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that are expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

## (u) Rounding of amounts

The Scheme is an entity of the kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 (as amended), issued by Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the "rounding off" of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order, where indicated.

## 3 Rental income

	-	For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Rental income	49,110	43,881	
Outgoings income	5,709	4,916	
	54,819	48,797	

Rental income includes an adjustment for the straight lining of rental income of \$345,478 (2014: \$166,436).

## 4 Property expenses

		For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Recoverable outgoings	6,035	5,270	
Non-recoverable outgoings	1,139	1,216	
Impairment loss	-	10	
Amortisation of lease commissions and lease incentives	81		
	7,255	6,496	

## 5 Distribution income

	For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000
Related unlisted managed investment schemes	2,800	1,349
Listed property trust	2,142	318
Non-related unlisted managed investment scheme		359
	4,942	2,026

# 6 Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or

	For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000
Listed property trust	1,041	813
Fair value on derivatives	3,629	(645)
Net unrealised gain on financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss	4,670	168
Non-related unlisted managed investment scheme	-	906
Net realised loss on derivatives - swap break costs	(4,168)	-
Net realised (loss)/gain on financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss	(4,168)	906
Net gain on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss	502	1,074

## 7 Auditor's remuneration

The auditor's remuneration is paid directly by the Responsible Entity.

During the reporting period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Scheme:

	•	For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$	30 June 2014 \$	
(a) Audit services			
Audit and review of financial statements	33,000	32,000	
Total remuneration for audit services	33,000	32,000	
(b) Non-audit services			
Tax compliance services	7,728	6,500	
Total remuneration for taxation services	7,728	6,500	

## 8 Other operating expenses

		For the reporting period ended	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Sundry	558	19	
Valuation expense	221	221	
	779	240	

## 9 Net assets attributable to unitholders

As stipulated within the Scheme's Constitution, each unit represents a right to an individual share in the Scheme and does not extend to a right to the underlying assets of the Scheme. There are three classes of unitholders in the Scheme being Retail, Wholesale and Class A.

Movements in the number of units and net assets attributable to unitholders during the reporting period were as follows:

	For the reporting period ended			
	30 June	30 June	30 June	30 June
	2015	2014	2015	2014
Contributed equity	No. '000	No. '000	\$'000	\$'000
Opening balance	340,509	256,008	383,572	288,683
Retail units				
Applications	1,328	1,489	1,854	2,050
Redemptions	(14,331)	(17,263)	(19,779)	(23,406)
Units issued upon reinvestment of				
distributions	2,292	2,302	3,064	3,032
	(10,711)	(13,472)	(14,861)	(18,324)
Wholesale units				
Applications	133,420	58,265	183,821	78,445
Redemptions	(5,918)	(7,599)	(8,012)	(10,127)
Units issues upon reinvestment of				
distributions	2,662	1,118	3,497	1,445
	130,164	51,784	179,306	69,763

## 9 Net assets attributable to unitholders (continued)

	For the reporting period ended					
	30 June 2015	30 June 2014	30 June 2015	30 June 2014		
Contributed equity	No. '000	No. '000	\$'000	\$'000		
Class A units						
Applications	87,804	53,446	83,993	50,256		
Redemptions	(14,010)	(7,683)	(13,241)	(7,191)		
Units issues upon reinvestment of						
distributions	816	426	747	385		
	74,610	46,189	71,499	43,450		
Closing balance	534,572	340,509	619,516	383,572		

	For the reporting period ended		
	<b>30 June</b> 30 Jur <b>2015</b> 2014 <b>\$'000</b> \$'000		
Undistributed income			
Opening balance	35,263	33,685	
(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to unitholders	(3,783)	1,578	
Closing balance	31,480	35,263	
Total net assets attributable to unitholders	650,996	418,835	

## Capital risk management

The Scheme considers its net assets attributable to unitholders as capital, notwithstanding net assets attributable to unitholders are classified as a liability. The amount of net assets attributable to unitholders can change significantly on a daily basis as the Scheme is subject to daily applications whilst redemptions occur quarterly for Retail and Wholesale units and monthly for Class A units, at the discretion of unitholders.

Applications and redemptions are reviewed relative to the liquidity of the Scheme's underlying assets on a daily basis by the Responsible Entity. Under the terms of the Scheme's Constitution, the Responsible Entity has the discretion to reject an application for units and to defer or adjust a redemption of units if the exercise of such discretion is in the best interests of unitholders.

## 10 Distributions to unitholders

## **Timing of distributions**

The distributions for the reporting period were as follows:

	Fo	or the reporting	period ended	
	30 June	30 June	30 June	30 June
	2015	2015	2014	2014
	\$'000	CPU	\$'000	CPU
Distributions - Retail units				
30 September	2,442	2.2600	3,001	2.5201
31 December	2,261	2.2600	2,927	2.5201
31 March	2,237	2.2600	2,758	2.5200
30 June (payable)	2,088	2.1200	2,774	2.5400
	9,028	_	11,460	
Distributions - Wholesale units				
30 September	4,172	2.4400	2,596	2.7156
31 December	5,136	2.4100	2,910	2.7000
31 March	5,675	2.4100	3,217	2.7000
30 June (payable)	5,964	2.2400	3,674	2.7000
	20,947		12,397	
Distributions - Class A units				
30 September	1,759	1.5000	948	1.6433
31 December	2,086	1.5000	1,194	1.6670
31 March	2,301	1.5000	1,370	1.6670
30 June (payable)	2,310	1.3600	1,486	1.5600
<del></del> .	8,456	_	4,998	
Total distributions	31,034	_	23,018	

As unitholders are presently entitled to the distributable income of the Scheme, no income tax is payable by the Responsible Entity.

11	Cash	and	cash	equiva	lents
----	------	-----	------	--------	-------

	As	As at	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Cash at bank	549	1,448	
Cash management trusts	85,895	56,698	
	86,444	58,146	

## 12 Receivables

	Asa	As at	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Trade receivables	180	2,507	
Distributions receivables	1,322	362	
GST receivables	1,234	326	
	2,736	3,195	

## 13 Financial assets/(liabilities) held at fair value through profit or loss

	As at		
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Listed property trusts	56,294	6,767	
Total financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss	56,294	6,767	
Derivative liabilities	<u> </u>	(3,629)	
Total financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss		(3,629)	

An overview of the risk exposures and fair value measurements relating to financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is included in note 18.

## 14 Investment properties

## (a) Property details

	Туре	Ownership	Acquisition date	Independent valuation date	Independent valuation amount \$'000	Independent valuer	Book value 30 June 2015 \$'000	Book value 30 June 2014 \$'000
Peninsula Private Hospital,								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Langwarrin, VIC	Hospital	100	14/07/2006	15/11/2014	62,300	m3property	62,998	62,047
The Valley Private Hospital, Dandenong North, VIC	Hospital	100	07/07/1999	15/05/2015	57,800	m3property	58,676	49,790
Calvary Wakefield Private Hospital and Medical Clinic, Adelaide, SA	Hospital	100	07/07/1999	15/05/2015	54,900	m3property	54,385	67,463
RPAH Medical Centre, Newton, NSW	Medical Centre	100	01/07/2002	15/11/2014	52,750	JLL	52,823	50,142
Beleura Private Hospital and Clinic, Mornington, VIC	Hospital	100	07/07/1999	15/02/2015	49,300	m3property	49,609	47,036
8 Herbert Street, St Leonards, NSW	Medical Centre	100	05/12/2013	15/11/2014	38,500	m3property	38,534	41,241
Manningham Medical Centre, Templestowe Lower, VIC	Medical Centre	100	29/07/2008	15/08/2014	30,500	m3property	30,627	29,104
Brunswick Private Hospital, Brunswick, VIC	Hospital	100	17/08/2009	15/05/2015	25,700	m3property	25,705	24,285
Brisbane Waters Private Hospital, Woy Woy, NSW	Hospital	100	21/07/2014	15/02/2015	16,600	JLL	19,412	-
Constitution Hill Aged Care, Northmead, NSW	Aged Care	100	22/12/2008	30/06/2015	18,050	CBRE	18,050	14,600
Berkeley Vale Private Hospital, Berkeley Vale, NSW	Hospital	100	31/10/2000	15/11/2014	13,750	JLL	15,572	13,559
Calvary Rehabilitation Hospital, Walkerville, SA	Hospital	100	07/07/1999	15/08/2014	15,000	m3property	15,328	15,133
Hunters Hill Private Hospital, Hunters Hill, NSW	Hospital	100	31/10/2000	15/11/2014	14,500	JLL	14,872	14,463
Gosford Private Medical Centre, NSW	Medical Centre	100	02/04/2015	17/02/2015	13,200	m3property	14,096	-
Figtree Private Hospital, Figtree, NSW	Hospital	100	31/10/2000	15/08/2014	12,750	JLL	12,750	12,753
17-19 Fullarton Rd, Kent Town, SA	Medical Centre	100	14/11/2014	15/08/2014	11,100	m3property	11,974	-
North Shore Specialist Day Hospital, Greenwich, NSW	Medical Centre	100	21/08/2008	15/02/2015	11,000	JLL	11,001	11,000
Ipswich Medical Centre and Day Hospital, QLD	Medical Centre	100	31/05/2007	15/08/2014	10,850	JLL	10,972	10,780
Mackay Medical Centre and Day Hospital, Mackay, QLD	Medical Centre	100	08/05/2007	15/02/2015	9,500	JLL	9,500	10,258
1 Bayberry Lane, Robina, QLD	Vacant lo	t 100	17/06/2015	02/12/2014	8,750	m3property	9,171	-
Townsville Private Clinic, Townsville, QLD	Hospital	100	20/10/2014	02/04/2014	5,000	Knight Frank	7,198	-
Eureka Medical Centre, Ballarat, VIC	Medical Centre	100	12/09/2005	15/02/2015	4,700	JLL	4,700	4,000
95 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC	Vacant lo	t 100	25/03/2015	03/12/2014	1,000	Opteon	1,297	-
Figtree Consulting Suites, Figtree, NSW	Medical Centre	100	05/05/2008	15/08/2014	1,100	JLL	1,100	1,250
101 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC	Vacant lo	t 100	12/12/2014	15/09/2014	800	Opteon	861	-
12 View Road, Walkerville, SA	Vacant lo	t 100	14/07/2010	15/08/2014	780	m3property	780	780
10 North East Road, Walkerville, SA	Vacant lo	t 100	25/01/2013	15/08/2014	650	m3property	650	620
103 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC	Vacant lo	t 100	15/01/2015	17/10/2014	490	Opteon	529	-
105 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC	Vacant lo	t 100	15/01/2015	17/10/2014	490	Opteon	529	-
Total					541,810		553,699	480,304

## 14 Investment properties (continued)

## (a) Property details (continued)

The book value of an investment property may vary from the independent valuation of the property due to acquisition costs, capital expenditure and the accounting treatment of leasing commissions and lease incentives.

## (b) Movements in carrying amount

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of investment properties for the reporting period are set out below:

	As at		
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Opening balance	480,304	440,028	
Additions including capital expenditure	75,261	45,362	
Disposal	-	(5,764)	
Realised loss on disposal	-	(249)	
Lease commissions and incentives	2,351	494	
Lease commissions and incentives amortisation	(81)	-	
Straight-lining of rental income	345	167	
Revaluation movements	(4,481)	266	
Closing balance	553,699	480,304	

The investment properties valuation policy is included in note 19.

On 21 July 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of Brisbane Waters Private Hospital, NSW for a purchase price of \$16,175,000 and acquisition costs of \$1,229,027.

On 20 October 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of 136 Wills Street, Townsville, QLD for a purchase price of \$5,000,000 and acquisition costs of \$464,420.

On 14 November 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of 17-19 Fullarton Road, Kent Town, SA for a purchase price of \$11,100,000 and acquisition costs of \$874,314.

On 12 December 2014, the Scheme completed the purchase of 101 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC for a purchase price of \$800,000 and acquisition costs of \$53,173.

On 15 January 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of two properties located at 103 and 105 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC for \$490,000 each and acquisition costs of \$34,092 and \$33,748, respectively.

On 25 March 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of 95 Herbert Street, Mornington, VIC for a purchase price of \$1,200,000 and acquisition costs of \$85,596.

On 2 April 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of Gosford Medical Centre located at 12 Jarrett Street, North Gosford, NSW for a purchase price of \$13,067,500 and acquisition costs of \$1,028,002.

On 17 June 2015, the Scheme completed the purchase of 1 Bayberry Lane, Robina, QLD for a purchase price of \$7,900,000 and acquisition costs of \$705,814.

## 14 Investment properties (continued)

## (c) Contractual obligations

Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities:

	As at		
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Within one year	78,760	2,994	
Later than one year but not later than 5 years	22,000		
Total	100,760	2,994	

The Scheme share of capital commitments will be funded using the Scheme's cash and cash equivalents and debt facility. Refer to note 16.

## 15 Payables

	As at		
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Trade payables	187	-	
Accrued expenses	4,031	1,700	
GST payables	499	438	
Redemption payable		1,269	
	4,717	3,407	

## 16 Borrowings

	As a	As at		
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000		
Bank loan	35,000	117,056		
Unamortised borrowing costs	(1,330)	(1,864)		
	33,670	115,192		

## 16 Borrowings (continued)

The Scheme had access to:

	As at	
	30 June	30 June
	2015	2014
	\$'000	\$'000
Credit facilities		
Cash advance facilities	300,000	300,000
Drawn balance	(35,000)	(117,056)
Undrawn balance	265,000	182,944

The bank loan facility was refinanced on 24 June 2014, and comprises of two tranches:

- Tranche A is a \$150,000,000 facility expiring on 24 June 2016, and
- Tranche B is a \$150,000,000 facility expiring on 24 June 2019.

The facility is secured by a first registered mortgage over the Scheme's properties, and is non-recourse to unitholders.

## 17 Derivative assets and liabilities

	Fair val		values
30 June 2015	Contract/notional \$'000	Assets \$'000	Liabilities \$'000
Interest rate swaps			
	<u> </u>	-	
		Fair	values
30 June 2014	Contract/notional	Assets	Liabilities
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Interest rate swaps			
Maturing on 8 November 2016 at a fixed rate of 3.80%	23,236	-	552
Maturing on 8 December 2016 at a fixed rate of 3.80%	23,236	-	564
Maturing on 7 December 2016 at a fixed rate of 4.36%	15,000	-	562
Maturing on 7 November 2017 at a fixed rate of 4.15%	20,000	-	828
Maturing on 8 November 2017 at a fixed rate of 4.26%	26,000		1,123
	107,472		3,629

## 17 Derivative assets and liabilities (continued)

An interest rate swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange their interest obligations (payments) or receipts at set intervals on a notional principal amount over an agreed time period.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the entity would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. The valuation policy is included in note 19.

The Scheme has previously entered into interest rate swap contracts to hedge future interest payments on the Scheme's borrowings.

All swaps were terminated during the reporting period which resulted to a realised loss on derivatives (swap break costs) of \$4,167,571 (2014: \$nil). The Scheme recognised an unrealised gain on derivative instruments held at fair value through profit and loss of \$3,629,175 (2014: (\$644,907)) in the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period ended 30 June 2015.

## 18 Financial risk management

## (a) Objectives, strategies, policies and processes

The Scheme's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Scheme's overall risk management program focuses on ensuring compliance with the Scheme's disclosure documents and seeks to maximise the returns derived for the level of risk to which the Scheme is exposed. Financial risk management is carried out by the Investment Manager ("the Investment Manager") under policies approved by the Board of Directors of the Responsible Entity ("the Board").

The Scheme uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rates, other price risks, and ratings analysis for credit risk.

As part of its risk management strategy, the Scheme uses interest rate swaps to manage exposures resulting from changes in interest rates.

#### (b) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk: price risk and interest rate risk. Market risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis, and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandates and investment strategies.

The market risk disclosures are prepared on the basis of the Scheme's direct investments and not on a look through basis for investments held in the Scheme.

## (b) Market risk (continued)

#### (i) Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of equities will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

Price risk exposure arises from the Scheme's investment in listed and unlisted property securities. The investments are classified on the statement of financial position as at fair value through profit or loss. All securities investments present a risk of loss of capital.

The Investment Manager mitigates this price risk through diversification and a careful selection of financial instruments within specified limits set by the Board.

The Scheme has exposures to price risk as shown in the table below. The table also demonstrates the sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in prices, with all other variables held constant. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in profit or net assets attributable to unitholders, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. There is no impact on distributable earnings as they are net fair value movements only.

	As at	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000
Assets		
Listed property trusts	56,294	6,767
Net exposure	56,294	6,767
Sensitivity Profit Securities prices + 10% Securities prices - 10%	5,629 (5,629)	677 (677)
Equity Securities prices + 10% Securities prices - 10%	5,629 (5,629)	677 (677)

#### (ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Scheme is exposed to interest rate risk predominantly through borrowings. The Scheme applies hedging across its differing interest rate exposures and utilises interest rate swaps, to exchange floating interest rates to fixed interest rates, to manage its exposure. Compliance with policy is reviewed regularly by management and is reported to the Board each meeting.

The Scheme has exposure to interest rate risk on its monetary assets and liabilities, mitigated by the use of interest rate swaps, as shown in the table below:

## (b) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

	As at		
	2015	2014	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Floating rate			
Cash and cash equivalents	86,444	58,146	
Borrowings*	(35,000)	(117,056)	
	51,444	(58,910)	
Derivative financial instruments			
Interest rate swaps - floating to fixed*		107,472	
		107,472	
Net exposure	51,444	48,562	
* Represents the notional principal amounts.			
	Profit \$'000	Equity \$'000	
30 June 2015			
Interest rate + 0.25%	129	129	
Interest rate - 0.25%	(129)	(129)	
30 June 2014			
Interest rate + 0.25%	121	121	
Interest rate - 0.25%	(121)	(121)	

## (c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause the Scheme to make a financial loss. The Scheme has exposure to credit risk on all of its financial assets included in the Scheme's statement of financial position.

The Scheme manages this risk by performing credit reviews of prospective tenants, obtaining tenant collateral where appropriate and performing detailed reviews on tenant arrears. The Scheme reviews the aggregate exposures of tenant debtors and tenancies across its portfolio.

The Scheme is exposed to credit risk on financial instruments and derivatives. There is only a credit risk where the contracting entity is liable to pay the Scheme in the event of a close out.

## (d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. This risk is controlled through the Scheme's investment in financial instruments, which under normal market conditions are readily convertible to cash. In addition, the Scheme maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet normal operating requirements.

The Scheme is exposed to the applicable withdrawal offer put in place by the Responsible Entity.

The Scheme's investments may include listed securities that are considered readily realisable, as they are listed on recognised stock exchanges.

The Scheme may invest in investments in unlisted unit trusts that expose the Scheme to the risk that the Investment Manager of those trusts may be unwilling or unable to fulfill the redemption requests within the timeframe requested by the Scheme.

Under the terms of its Constitution, the Scheme has the ability to manage liquidity risk by delaying redemptions to unitholders, if necessary, until the funds are available to pay them.

Units are redeemed on demand at the unitholders' option. However, the Responsible Entity does not envisage that the contractual maturity disclosed in the table below will be representative of the actual cash outflows, as holders of these instruments typically retain them for the medium to long term and withdrawal offers are subject to limits set by the Responsible Entity.

The Scheme's policy is to hold a proportion of its investments in liquid assets.

## Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Scheme's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Financial liabilities such as trade payables, where there are no specific contractual settlement dates, have been grouped into the 'less than 1 year' maturity grouping as such liabilities are typically settled within 30 days.

	Less than 1 year \$'000	1-2 years \$'000	2-3 years \$'000	3+ years \$'000
30 June 2015				
Distributions payable	10,362	-	-	-
Payables	4,717	-	-	-
Borrowings	35,000	-	-	-
Net assets attributable to unitholders	650,996	-		
Total financial liabilities	701,075	-	-	-

## (d) Liquidity risk (continued)

	Less than 1 year \$'000	1-2 years \$'000	2-3 years \$'000	3+ years \$'000
30 June 2014				
Distributions payable	7,934	-	-	-
Payables	3,407	-	-	-
Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss	1,483	1,483	1,027	257
Borrowings	-	117,056	-	-
Net assets attributable to unitholders	418,835	-	-	-
Total financial liabilities	431,659	118,539	1,027	257

As disclosed above, the Scheme manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in liquid assets that it expects to be able to liquidate within seven days or less. Liquid assets include cash and cash equivalents and listed property trusts. As at 30 June 2015, these assets amounted to \$142,737,761 (2014: \$64,913,301).

Investment in Australian Unity Wholesale Cash Fund is included in the liquid assets of the Scheme above.

#### (e) Estimation of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of the Scheme's assets and liabilities at the end of each reporting period approximate their fair values.

The Scheme values its investments in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 19.

## (f) Instruments used by the Scheme

The Scheme is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest rates in accordance with the Scheme's financial risk management policies.

The details of the Scheme's interest rate management activities are detailed in note 17.

## 19 Fair value hierarchy

The Scheme measures and recognises the financial assets/(liabilities) held at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties at fair value on a recurring basis.

## (a) Fair value hierarchy

The Scheme is required to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the subjectivity of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

- Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
- Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes "observable" requires significant judgement by the Responsible Entity. The Responsible Entity considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The table below sets out the Scheme's financial assets and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value according to the fair value hierarchy at the reporting date.

30 June 2015	Level 1 \$'000	Level 2 \$'000	Level 3 \$'000	Total \$'000
Financial assets				
Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss				
Listed property trust	56,294	-	-	56,294
Total financial assets	56,294		<u> </u>	56,294
Non-financial assets				
Investment properties	-	-	553,699	553,699
Total non-financial assets	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	553,699	553,699
30 June 2014	Level 1 \$'000	Level 2 \$'000	Level 3 \$'000	Total \$'000
Financial assets				
Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss				
Listed property trust	6,767	-	-	6,767
Total financial assets	6,767	<u> </u>	-	6,767

19 Fair value hierarchy (continued)				
30 June 2014	Level 1 \$'000	Level 2 \$'000	Level 3 \$'000	Total \$'000
Non-financial assets				
Investment properties	-	-	480,304	480,304
Total non-financial assets	<u> </u>	<u>-</u>	480,304	480,304
Financial liabilities				
Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss				
Derivatives	-	3,629	-	3,629
Total financial liabilities		3,629		3,629

The Scheme's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period. There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for fair value measurements during the reporting period.

## (b) Valuation techniques

#### (i) Financial instruments

The pricing for the majority of the Scheme's investments is generally sourced from independent pricing sources, the relevant Investment Managers or reliable brokers' quotes.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore classified within level 1, include active listed property trusts and exchange traded derivatives. Financial assets are priced at bid prices, while financial liabilities are priced at asking prices.

Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued based on quoted market prices or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within level 2. These include unlisted property trusts and derivative instruments.

Specific valuation techniques used daily to value financial instruments include:

- for listed trust, disclosed in level 1, the use of quoted market prices or dealer for similar instruments;
- for unlisted trust, the use of the relevant Investment Managers' quoted unit prices using the net asset value;
- for derivatives, the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated using a discounted cash flow model as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.

The stated fair value of each financial instruments at the end of the reporting period represents the Responsible Entity's best estimate at the end of the reporting period.

## 19 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

#### (ii) Investment properties

The investment properties valuation policy is to have independent valuations conducted regularly, typically annually, to aid with the determination of the fair value of the assets. Fair value is determined using capitalisation and discounted cash flows approaches with direct reference to arm's length market transactions of properties comparable in size and location to those held by the Scheme.

At each reporting date the appropriateness of those valuations is assessed by the Responsible Entity.

The stated fair value of each investment property at the end of the reporting period represents the Responsible Entity's best estimate as at the end of the reporting period. However, if an investment property is sold in the future the price achieved may be higher or lower than the fair value recorded in the financial statements.

The fair value estimates for investment properties are included in level 3 as explained in section (c) below.

#### (c) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable input (level 3)

The changes in fair value of investment properties for the reporting period are set out in note 14(b).

#### (i) Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value

The table below illustrates the key valuation assumptions used in the determination of the investment properties fair value:

Valuation inputs	30 June 2015	30 June 2014	Relationship of inputs to fair value
Weighted average capitalisation rate (%)	8.69%	8.82%	The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
Occupancy rate % (by area)	97.88%	99.31%	The higher the occupation rate, the higher the fair value.
Weighted average lease expiry (years)	11.59 years	11.27 years	The higher the lease expiry, the higher the fair value.

#### (ii) Valuation processes

Independent valuations of investment properties are obtained at intervals of generally one year from suitably qualified valuers. Less frequent valuations are permissible, however the intervals between such valuations are not to exceed three years. Such valuations are reflected in note 14. Notwithstanding, the directors of the Responsible Entity determine the carrying value of each investment property at each reporting date to ensure that its carrying value does not materially differ from its fair value. Where the carrying value differs from fair value, that asset is adjusted to its fair value.

#### (d) Fair value of other financial instruments

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts of the receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any discount or premium on settlement. The fair value of borrowings approximates the carrying amount.

## 20 Related party transactions

## Responsible entity

The Responsible Entity of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust is Australian Unity Funds Management Limited (ABN 60 071 497 115) whose immediate and ultimate parent entity is Australian Unity Limited (ABN 23 087 648 888).

## Key management personnel

#### (a) Directors

Key management personnel includes persons who were directors of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited at any time during the reporting period as follows:

Glenn Barnes (Chairman)

David Bryant (Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer)

Melinda Cilento (Non-Executive Director)

Stephen Maitland (Non-Executive Director)

Kevin McCoy (Chief Financial Officer)

Rohan Mead (Group Managing Director)

Peter Promnitz (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 1 August 2014)

Greg Willcock (Non-Executive Director) (appointed 31 December 2014)

Ian Ferres (Non-Executive Director) (ceased 1 August 2014)

Warren Stretton (Non-Executive Director) (ceased 31 December 2014)

#### (b) Other key management personnel

There were no other persons with responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Scheme, directly or indirectly during the reporting period.

#### Other transactions within the Scheme

From time to time directors of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited, or their director related entities, may invest in or withdraw from the Scheme. These investments or withdrawals are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Scheme unitholders and are trivial in nature.

#### Responsible Entity's fees and other transactions

Under the terms of the Scheme's Constitution, the Responsible Entity is entitled to receive Responsible Entity's fees monthly, calculated daily, by reference to the gross assets of the Scheme.

Administration expenses incurred in the day to day running of the Scheme are reimbursed in accordance with the Scheme's Constitution.

The transactions during the reporting period and amounts payable at reporting period end between the Scheme and the Responsible Entity were as follows:

	30 June 2015 \$	30 June 2014 \$
Management fees for the reporting period paid/payable by the Scheme to the Responsible Entity	4,677,206	3,985,423
Administration expenses (audit fees inclusive) incurred by the Responsible Entity which are reimbursed in accordance with the Scheme's Constitution	2,493,649	1,867,339
Aggregate amounts payable to the Responsible Entity at the end of the reporting period	772,645	623,290

## 20 Related party transactions (continued)

## (a) Other related party transactions

Australian Unity Property Management Pty Ltd (a related party of the Responsible Entity) has been appointed to provide a number of property related services to the Scheme. These services include:

- · Leasing and Agency Services;
- Market Rent Reviews;
- Property Management Services;
- Project Management Services;
- Development Management Services; and
- Debt Arrangement Services

The total fees paid/payable to Australian Unity Property Management Pty Ltd for the reporting period ended 30 June 2015 was \$1,296,419 (2014: \$1,012,156). Total accrued fees payable to Australian Unity Property Management Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2015 was \$1,195,721 (2014: \$nil).

All related party transactions are under normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

#### Related party unitholdings

Parties related to the Scheme (including Australian Unity Funds Management Limited, its related parties and other schemes managed by Australian Unity Funds Management Limited), held units in the Scheme as follows:

#### 2015

Unitholders	No. of units held opening '000	No. of units held closing '000	Fair value of investment* \$'000	Interest held %	No. of units acquired '000	No. of units disposed '000	Distributions paid/payable by the Scheme \$'000
Australian Unity Property Income Fund AUFM Managed Fund No 2	-	1,281	1,739	0.26	1,281	-	107
(AUFMF2) Australian Unity	-	161	219	0.03	161	-	4
Assurance Benefit Fund AUFM Managed	556	556	770	0.12	-	-	50
Fund No 1 (AUFMF1) AUFM Managed Fund No 3	-	50	68	0.01	50	-	1
(AUFMF3)		197	263	0.04	197		4
Total	556	2,245	3,059	_	1,689		166_

<sup>\*</sup>Fair value of investment includes accrued distribution at the end of the reporting period.

## 20 Related party transactions (continued)

2014

Unitholders	No. of units held opening '000	No. of units held closing '000	Fair value of investment* \$'000	Interest held %	No. of units acquired '000	No. of units disposed '000	Distributions paid/payable by the Scheme \$'000
Australian Unity Assurance Benefit Fund	556	556	767	0.18	-	-	56
Total	556	556	767		-		56

<sup>\*</sup>Fair value of investment includes accrued distribution at the end of the reporting period.

#### Investments

The Scheme held investments in the following schemes which are also managed by Australian Unity Funds Management Limited or its related parties:

	Fair value of investment In			Interest held		Distributions received/ receivable	
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	30 June 2015 %	30 June 2014 %	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Australian Unity Wholesale Cash Fund	85,895	56,698	12.69	7.28	2,800	1,349	
	85,895_	56,698	12.69	7.28	2,800	_1,349_	

Distributions received/receivable includes an amount of \$255,307 (2014: \$144,545) in respect of Australian Unity Wholesale Cash Fund which remains unpaid at the end of the reporting period.

## 21 Reconciliation of profit to net cash inflows from operating activities

## (a) Reconciliation of profit to net cash inflows from operating activities

	For the reporting period ended		
	30 June 2015 \$'000	30 June 2014 \$'000	
Profit/(loss) for the reporting period attributable to unitholders	-	-	
(Decrease)/increase in net assets attributable to unitholders	(3,783)	1,578	
Add back interest expenses and debt establishment costs	5,447	8,928	
Add back swap break costs paid	4,168	-	
Add back realised loss on sale of investment property	-	249	
Net gains on financial instruments	(4,670)	(1,074)	
Decrease/(increase) in receivables	459	(1,504)	
Increase in accounts payable/liabilities	(903)	(810)	
Change in fair value of the investment properties - revaluation decrement/(increment)	4,481	(266)	
Decrease/(increase) in other assets/prepayments	14	(188)	
Adjustments to net lease incentives and straight line rental	(1,843)	(167)	
Distribution to unitholders	38,431	28,855	
Net cash inflows from operating activities	41,801	35,601	
(b) Components of cash and cash equivalents			
Cash as at the end of the reporting period as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the statement of financial position as follows:			
Cash and cash equivalents	86,444	58,146	

## 22 Events occurring after the reporting period

No significant events have occurred since the end of the reporting period which would impact on the financial position of the Scheme disclosed in the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015 or on the results and cash flows of the Scheme for the reporting period ended on that date.

Fourteen of the Scheme's properties were independently valued in August 2015, with a net increase from their previous book value of \$23,052,517.

## 23 Contingent assets and liabilities and commitments

There are no outstanding contingent assets and liabilities or commitments as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014.

## **Directors' declaration**

In the opinion of the directors of the Responsible Entity:

- (a) The financial statements and notes set out on pages 7 to 42 are in accordance with the *Corporations Act* 2001, including:
  - (i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the *Corporations Regulations 2001* and other mandatory professional reporting requirements, and
  - (ii) giving a true and fair view of the Entity's financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance, as represented by the results of its operations and cash flows for the reporting period ended on that date.
- (b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Scheme will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
- (c) The financial statements are in accordance with the Scheme's Constitution.
- (d) Note 2(a) confirms that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Director

Director

10 September 2015



Frnst & Young 8 Exhibition Street Melbourne VIC 3000 Australia GPO Box 67 Melbourne VIC 3001 Tel: +61 3 9288 8000 Fax: +61 3 8650 7777

ev.com

## Independent auditor's report to the unitholders of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration.

## Directors' responsibility for the financial report

The directors of Australian Unity Funds Management Limited (the Responsible Entity) are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

## Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

## Independence

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor's Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included in the directors' report.



## Opinion

## In our opinion:

- a. the financial report of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
  - i. giving a true and fair view of Australian Unity Healthcare Property Trust's financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and
  - ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the *Corporations Regulations* 2001; and
- b. the financial report also complies with *International Financial Reporting Standards* as disclosed in Note 2.

Ernst & Young

Luke Slater Partner Melbourne

10 September 2015